Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-3-2017

Dunn v. Idaho State Tax Com'n Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44378

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the case

This is a state income tax case. It is on review from the First Judicial District, Kootenai County, case No. CV-15-3329. It was submitted on agreed facts and briefs. The security deposit required by Idaho Code § 63-3049 has been paid.

The Idaho State Tax Commission assessed a tax deficiency based solely against Linda Dunn's alleged community property interest in the wages of her non-resident husband. The wages were earned and paid in the state of Texas. The taxable years at issue are 2000, 2001, 2003, 2005 and 2007-2010. Her husband, Barry Dunn, was employed by a Texas company. He died of cancer in 2012. No probate of his estate has been commenced. Vol. 1, p. 39. His estate is not a party in this case.

Including one half of Barry Dunn's Texas wages into Linda Dunn's Idaho income, is the sole issue in this case. R. p. 39. Linda Dunn, Appellant, claims that her husband's wages are defined as the equivalent of separate property in Texas and are not taxable to her for Idaho income tax purposes.

Texas has no state personal income tax. It is prohibited by the Texas State Constitution, Vernon's Ann. Texas Const. Art. 8, § 24 (copy attached, A-1).

In Parker v. Idaho State Tax Commission, 148 Idaho 842, 230 P.3d 734

(Idaho 2010), the taxpayers stipulated that Idaho community property laws apply, *id.* at 846. Linda Dunn urges that the community property law of Texas applies, and under U.S. Supreme Court law decided in 2015, the Commerce Clause prevents inclusion. Alternatively, since the unique Texas law treats wages of the earner spouse as his separate property when the issue is a non-tortuous liability. Barry Dunn's wages never entered Idaho in any way. The wages were his alone and directly deposited in a Texas bank.

B. Statement of facts

The facts, having been stipulated by the parties, are not in dispute. Barry Dunn earned the wages outside of Idaho. R. p. 39, 40. Linda Dunn, his wife, was an Idaho resident but her residency is not an issue in this case. R. p. 39. "Mr. Dunn was domiciled in Texas during the years in question. Petitioner was domiciled in Idaho during the same period." R. p. 118. At no time was Barry Dunn domiciled in Idaho. R. p. 39. Barry Dunn earned the money while personally present in Texas. The parties stipulated that Barry Dunn was not an Idaho resident. R. p. 39. During all the years in question, he never worked in Idaho. R. p. 40. Barry Dunn worked as a project manager for an off-shore drilling company, Udelhoven, Inc. Udelhoven, Inc., Barry Dunn's only employer during the relevant time, is a Houston, Texas, company and has no office or business in

-2-

Idaho. R. pp. 39, 40. He was domiciled in Texas, had a Texas residence, Texas driver's license and deposited his pay checks in the city of Tomball, Texas, bank account. R. p. 40. During all the times involved, Barry Dunn never worked or earned any of the wage income in Idaho. R. p. 39. Joint federal income tax returns were filed by the Dunns during the relevant periods involved. During all the years at issue, Barry Dunn lived in states other than Idaho. He lived in Washington in 2000, in either Washington or Alaska in 2001, Alaska in 2002, in Alaska or Texas in 2003, and lived in Texas from 2004 until October 2010. Barry Dunn was employed by Udelhoven, Inc., 4606 F.M. 1960 I.M. Road, Houston, Texas. The company operated offshore drilling platforms. R. p. 39 Dunn worked as a project manager. His employment required that he be personally present at the site of the project. R. pp. 39-40. He always resided in the states where he worked. R. pp. 39, 40. While in Texas, Barry Dunn's vehicle was licensed as a Texas vehicle. He obtained a Texas Driver's License. He lived in Tomball, Texas and his pay from Udelhoven, Inc. was deposited directly into his bank account in Tomball, Texas. R., p. 39. Barry Dunn was personally present and earned the income by his personal effort in Texas from 2004 through 2010, mostly on offshore drilling platforms. R., p. 40.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether wages earned in Texas by a non resident spouse domiciled in Texas is attributable as Idaho income to a non earning spouse domiciled in Idaho.

2. Whether the District Court erred in interpreting Texas law.

3. Whether wages earned by a non-resident husband in Texas are subject to the Idaho income tax of Linda Dunn, pursuant to Idaho Code § 63-3026A.

4. Whether Texas law, Texas Family Code §§ 3.102(a)(1) and 3.202 (Vernon's Texas Statutes and Code annotated Title 1, Subtitle B, Subchapter C), providing for management and control of earnings to the earner as if he or she were single and specifically rejects joint control, are state of Idaho income to the non earner spouse.

5. Whether the Dormant Commerce Clause, Art. 1, § 8, cl 3 or other U.S.
Constitutional provisions, including the Privilege and Immunities Clause, Art. 4,
§ 2 prevent Idaho income taxation to a spouse of a non resident wage earner.

6. Whether wages personally earned in Texas by a resident of Texas while domiciled in Texas have a taxable nexus in Idaho? If so, is lack of nexus a violation of due process and the Commerce Clause preventing Idaho income?

-4-

7. Whether Blangers v. State, Dept. Of Revenue and Taxation, 114 Idaho 944, 763 P.2d 1052 (1988), updated by Wynne, applies to prevent Idaho income taxation.

8. Does *Comptroller of Treasury of Maryland v. Wynne*, ____ U.S. ___, 135 S.Ct. 1787, 191 L.Ed.2d 813 (2015) apply to control the outcome of this case?

9. Does actual receipt of income need be proved from husband earner to wife?

10. Whether the reciprocal credit statute in Idaho, Idaho Code § 63-3029 is a violation of the U.S. Constitution, Art. 4, § 2, the Privileges and Immunities provision, when the reciprocal state has no state income tax?

11. Does the case of *Lunding v. New York Tax Appeals Tribunal*, 522 U.S. 287, 118 S.Ct. 766, 139 L.Ed.2d 717 (1998) applying the equal footing privileges and immunities constitutional provision apply to this case?

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The case was tried on an agreed stipulation of facts before the Court. The Court exercises free review of the case. Free review is exercised over the District Court's application of relevant law to the facts. Also, constitutional issues are pure questions of law over which this Court exercises free review. *Icanovic v. State* 159 Idaho 524, 528-9, 363 P.3d 365 (Idaho 2015); *Crawford v. State*, 160 Idaho

-5-

586, 377 P.3d 400, 405 (Idaho 2016); *Infanger v. City of Salmon*, 137 Idaho 45, 44 P.3d 1100 (Idaho 2002); *Post v. Idaho Farmway, Inc.*, 135 Idaho 475, 20 P.3d 11 (Idaho, 2001).

IV. ARGUMENT

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Under the Commerce Clause, a state may not discriminate between transactions on the basis of some interstate element, i.e. tax a transaction more heavily when it crosses state lines (intrastate) than when it occurs in state (interstate). It is illusory that Barry Dunn's Texas wages ever entered Idaho. The record does not indicate that Linda Dunn ever received any of Barry Dunn's wages. While there is no proof in the record, it is an equally creditable hypothesis that the couple's Idaho sales and real estate taxes could have been paid from all sources of their income and capital. Therefore, sales and real estate taxes pay for Idaho governmental services provided to Linda Dunn. Barry Dunn would have had no state tax to pay if his spouse was domiciled in Texas. This is discrimination. *Wynne*, 135 S.Ct. at 1801-2, requires that the tax structure of every state tax non residents on a non discriminatory basis. Every state includes the eight states that have no income tax, including Texas. *Wynne*, 135 S.Ct. at 1795 holds that the practical effect on taxpayers must be considered. Barry Dunn's Texas wages are not included in his wife's income for the reason that regardless of label (community or separate) they are not includeable into Linda Dunn's Idaho state income.

A. The Dormant Commerce Clause applies to this case.

"The Commerce Clause provides that Congress shall have Power... to regulate commerce ... among the several states." U.S. Const. Art. 1, § 8, cl 3. The Supreme Court has interpreted this affirmative grant of authority to Congress as also establishing what has come to be called the Dormant Commerce Clause - a self executing limitation on state authority to enact laws imposing substantial burdens on interstate commerce even in the absence of Congressional action."

United Egg Producers v. Department of Agriculture of Commonwealth of Puerto Rico,

77 F.3d 567, 569-570 (1st Cir. 1996).

Parker v. Idaho State Tax Commission, 148 Idaho 842, 230 P.3d 734 (Idaho 2010) holds that the Dormant Commerce Clause did not apply "unless there is actual or prospective competition between entities in an identifiable market and state action that either expressly discriminates against or places an undue burden on interstate commerce." *Id.* at 847. The *Parker* case held that "the commerce clause is not implicated in this case." *Ibid.* 847. The Trial Court, on another issue, noted that the primary issue of community property of Texas was not stipulated, hence *Parker* did not apply to status of community property. R. 126. However, on

the issue of discrimination, the United States Supreme Court has, in a 2015 first impression case, Comptroller of Treasury of Maryland v. Wynne, ___U.S. ___, 135 S.Ct. 1787, 191 L.Ed.2d 813 (2015) abrogated Parker and applied the Dormant Commerce Clause to state cross-border income tax cases. Wynne was decided in 2015. Parker v. Idaho State Tax Commission, 148 Idaho 842, 848, 230 P.3d 734 (Idaho 2010) was decided before the first impression case of Wynne, 135 S.Ct. 1737. Parker, 148 Idaho at 848, is obsolete since the 2015 case of Wynne. Wynne, 135 S.Ct. at 1801-1804, applies an internal consistency test that requires a court to look to "the tax structure of the tax at issue to see whether its identical application by every State in the Union would place interstate commerce at a disadvantage as compared with commerce intrastate." Id. at 1802. (Internal quotes disregarded) "Last Term, in Comptroller of the Treasury of Maryland v. Wynne, the Court for the first time held that a state's tax on personal income was subject to the restrictions of the dormant commerce clause." Dormant Commerce Clause, Personal Income Taxation-Comptroller of the Treasury of Maryland v. Wynne. 129 Harv.L.Rev. 181, November 2015. The Supreme Court 2014 Term (leading case Constitutional Law Article 1, Harvard Law Review Association). The Supreme Court in Comptroller of the Treasury of Maryland v. Wynne, 135 S.Ct. at 1796, discarded the distinction between gross receipts and net income,

"Maryland's raw power to tax its residents' out-of-state income does not insulate its tax scheme from scrutiny under the Dormant Commerce Clause." *Id.* at 1799. The issue has emerged from one of the most contentious issues that led to the formation of the U.S. Constitution. "No principle is better settled than that the power of a state, even its power of taxation, in respect to property is limited to such as within its jurisdiction." *New York, L E & WR Co. v. Com. of Pennsylvania,* 153 U.S. 628, 14 S.Ct. 952, 38 L.E. 846 (1894) (quoted in *Miller Bros. v. State of Maryland*, 347 U.S. 340, 342, 74 S.Ct. 535, 98 L.Ed. 744 (1954) an excise tax case).

Comptroller of the Treasury of Maryland v. Wynne, ____ U.S. ____, 135 S.Ct.

1787, 191 L.Ed.2d 813 (2015), states:

[I]n order to succeed, the new Union would have to avoid the tendencies toward economic Balkinization that had plagued relations among the Colonies and later among the States under the Articles of Confederation . . . by prohibiting States from discriminating against or imposing excessive burdens on interstate commerce without congressional approval, it strikes at one of the chief evils that led to the adoption of the Constitution, namely, state tariffs and other laws that burdened interstate commerce. *Id.* at 1787.

The case of Blangers v. State, Dept. Of Revenue and Taxation, 114 Idaho 944,

763 P.2d 1052 (Idaho 1988) predated *Wynne* by some 28 years, but nonetheless applies the commerce clause and also prohibited excessive burdens on interstate

commerce, stating "Idaho is not the source of this income." *Id.* at 1059. *Blangers*, 114 Idaho at 948, relied on *Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady*, 430 U.S. 274, 97 S.Ct. 1076, 51 L.Ed.2d 326 (1977), a case also relied on in *Wynne*, 135 S.Ct. at 1793, to determine fair apportionment and whether the tax "is fairly related to the services provided by the State."

B. Idaho Law recognizes source income.

Idaho Code § 63-3026A, in its relevant part, states "(1) for non resident individuals trusts or estates the terms 'Idaho taxable income' includes only those components of Idaho taxable income as computed for a resident which are derived from or related to sources within Idaho." Barry Dunn's wages in Texas were not derived from or related to sources within Idaho. "This "source based" income (i.e. the income earned at its location) is the core issue."

The states power to tax on the bases of source is no less well recognized than their power to tax on the bases of residence. However, because the power to tax based on source derives only from the protection that the states provide to 'persons property and business transactions *within their borders* it is necessarily more circumscribed than the power to tax that flows from 'domicil' itself. Consequently, when states seek to tax non resident individuals and corporations using source as their sole jurisdictional bases, their power extends only to the non residents property owned within the State and their business, trade or profession carried on therein and the tax is only on such income as derived from those sources. (Underlining added)

Walter Hellerstein, Deciphering the Supreme Courts Opinion in Wynne, July 2015,

page 7, J. Tax'n (2015), available at:

http://digitalcommons.law.uga.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2004&context=fac_artchop

C. Comparison of common facts and law of *Treasury of Maryland* v. Wynne to Linda Dunn.

The Wynnes lived in Maryland and owned a subchapter S corporation that earned income and paid state income taxes to other states. Wynne, 135 S.Ct. at 1793. The *Wynne* opinion treated the subchapter S income as personal income. See, W. Hellerstein, Deciphering the Supreme Courts opinion in Wynne, July 2015, J. Of Taxation, p. 5. Maryland allowed a credit for state, but not county taxes, paid in other states. 135 S.Ct. 1793, 1803. The only issue was failure to allow a credit for county taxes. Linda Dunn was taxed by Idaho on income earned by her non-resident husband, earned in Texas. Texas has no state income tax. As a first impression issue Wynne held that for Dormant Commerce Clause purposes the difference between gross receipts and net income is eliminated. Wynne, 135 S.Ct. at 1792, 1796. At issue in both *Wynne* and Dunn are state income tax on income earned outside the state, i.e. geographical source income. Source income is income earned at the location that is other than the state of the taxpayers domicile. Hellerstein, J of Tax'n, July 2015, at 7 f.14. Wynne did not establish a strict source based rule. However, Wynne considered the source to establish the

internal consistency test of discrimination "to see whether its identical application by every State in the Union would place interstate commerce at a disadvantage as compared with commerce intrastate." Wynne at 1802. The seven states that have no income tax on wages, including Texas, Alaska and Washington, are at a disadvantage as income earned by persons domiciled in these states pay no state tax. Linda Dunn's non-resident husband earns income geographically in these exempt states, the Idaho income tax inherently discriminates. The total tax burden is what matters. Wynn, 125 S.Ct. at 1805. The tax on Linda Dunn is discriminatory and unconstitutional in violation of the Dormant Commerce Clause. The distinction of the Trial Court, R. 124-5, is wrong as the couple is burdened with a tax in Idaho on income earned in non income tax states. The total burden is compared. Parker, 148 Idaho 842, 230 P.3d 734 (2010) is not binding on this issue as *Wynne*, the decision by the highest court construing constitutional law, holds that the internal consistency test is violated. Walter Hellerstein's book, J. Hellerstein & W. Hellerstein, State Taxation, (3d ed. 2003) is referenced in Wynne, 135 S.Ct. 1801, he also co authored an amicus brief in *Wynne*, July, 2015, J. of Tax'n at 6.

Idaho taxes income to Linda Dunn that would be exempt if she lived in Texas. This is inherently discriminatory and acts as a tariff. It is voided by the

-12-

Dormant Commerce Clause. See *Wynne*, 135 S.Ct. at 1804. The issue is of vital importance to Linda Dunn. Tax free is enormously different from writing a check for additional Idaho income tax. Some versus none is discriminatory.

D. The Idaho Credit statute fails to address the states that have no income tax.

Idaho Code § 32-906 defines Idaho community property and separate property. The code section presumes that all property is community unless the spouses, by written agreement, specify that the property is separate property. "Specifically designated separate property" is the "separate property to the spouse to whom the property belongs. . . . Such property shall be subject to the management of the spouse owning the property and shall not be liable for the debts of the other member of the community." Idaho Code § 63-3029 credits income taxes paid to another state "imposed on the individual." Apparently, it applies dollar for dollar. It does not apply here as Texas has no income tax. This is the source income that prevents the tax sought in this case. The Tax Commission assumes that Barry Dunn's wages are somehow "beamed" into Idaho. It imposes what amounts to a tariff on Linda Dunn. There is no internal consistency as Idaho seeks an income tax on Linda's presumed community half that would not be taxed in Texas.

E. Alternatively, if *Wynne* is disregarded, the law of Texas applies and the Income is still not taxed in Idaho

The two states both have community property ownership laws. The rule is that when the spouses are domiciled in different states, the choice of law where "movables" are the issue depends on where the "most significant relationship to the spouse and to the earnings." Lane-Burslem v. C.I.R., 659 F.2d 209 (D.C. Cir. 1981) is very similar to the Dunn's situation. In Lane-Burslem, the wife and husband resided in England but intended to retire in Louisiana, where the wife was born. Id. at 211-12. Wife contended, for federal tax purposes, that one half of her wages earned in England was community property and exempt from tax as her husband was a non-resident alien. The law, prior to 1926, allowed the exclusion. The court held that "the ownership interests in marital personal property should be determined by the internal law of the state with the most significant relationship and to the earnings." Id. at 214. England, where the wages were earned, had the most significant relationship to the spouses "Under English law, appellant would hold her income as separate, not community, property." Id. at 215. In Seizer v. Sessions, 132 Wash.2d 642, 940 P.2d 261 (Wash. 1997), the husband lived in Washington where he bought a ticket and won the lottery. His wife lived in Texas. Washington law applied. The court applied

-14-

Restatement (Second) of conflicts of Law § 258. The court applied Washington law "... because Rosalie and Elmer had separate domiciles when Elmer acquired the lottery winnings, and Elmer was domiciled in Washington at that time. Id. at 651 In in re Marriage of Whelchel, 476 N.W.2d 104 (C.A. Iowa 1991) a divorce case, the cash management account was acquired when the parties were married and living in Texas and later moved to Iowa. Id. at 105-6. The court applied Restatement (Second) Conflict of Law § 258 (1) and § 6(2) and held that where the two state laws differed, Texas law applied as it had the "most significant relationship." Id. at 110. It follows here that Texas law applies to Barry Dunn's wages earned and paid in Texas. Texas has a unique marital property concept depending on who has management rights to the property. Management rights fall into two categories, sole management rights and joint management rights. A spouse has sole management rights over community property that would have been his or her separate property had he or she acquired it while single. TEX.FAM.CODE ANN § 3.102(a). (Copy attached). Wages earned by a spouse is sole management property and not liable for non tortious liabilities of the other spouse. Vernon's Texas Statutes and Codes Annotated Family Code § 3.102(a)(1) states that "During marriage, each spouse has the sole management, control and disposition of the community property that the spouse would have owned if single, including (1)

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