Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-31-2017

Dunn v. Idaho State Tax Com'n Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44378

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

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

"Where the district court conducts a trial de novo in an appeal of a [Board of Tax Appeals] decision, this Court defers to the district court's findings of fact that are supported by substantial evidence, but exercises free review over the district court's conclusions of law." *Kimbrough v. Idaho Bd. of Tax Appeals*, 150 Idaho 417, 419-20, 247 P.3d 644, 646-47 (2011) (internal quotation and citation omitted).

There are no disputes regarding any factual findings in this case; rather, the only matters for review are the District Court's legal conclusions. Thus, over these legal conclusions, this Court exercises "free review." *Kimbrough*, 150 Idaho at 419-20, 247 P.3d at 646-47; *see also Mann v. Granite Reeder Water & Sewer Dist.*, 143 Idaho 248, 251, 141 P.3d 1117, 1120 (2006).

II. Summary of the Argument

This appeal presents the straightforward legal issue of whether the District Court was correct that Linda Dunn's share of community income is taxable in Idaho. To be clear, the District Court was correct: Linda Dunn has a community property interest in her husband's wages, and as an Idaho resident, she is required to pay tax on that community income.

First, the wages that her husband, Barry Dunn, earned in Texas and Washington are community property under those states' laws. (Appellant's Brief does not substantively address the District Court's determination as to Washington law in this appeal. Accordingly, the Commission will address Washington law only briefly below.) In turn, the District Court correctly followed Idaho law which holds that the income Linda Dunn received from her one-half interest in her husband's wages, is taxable, even if those wages were earned out-of-state.

Finally, the District Court was correct that there are no constitutional violations here. Both the Commerce Clause and the Privileges and Immunities Clause are not implicated by the facts of this case. Appellant's Brief maintains that Idaho is unconstitutionally reaching beyond its borders and directly taxing a non-resident for non-Idaho sourced income. It is not; it is simply attributing her interest in her husband's wages to her, just as this Court approved of in *Parker v. Idaho State Tax Commission*, 148 Idaho 842, 230 P.3d 734 (2010). As the District Court noted, the only interest subject to Idaho tax liability is Linda Dunn's interest in community property. Following Idaho legal precedent, the District Court correctly concluded that the taxation of Linda Dunn's one-half interest in Barry Dunn's Texas and Washington earnings does not at all violate the Commerce Clause or the Privileges and Immunities Clause.

The arguments in Appellant's Brief rest on one faulty assumption: that the Tax

Commission is trying to tax a non-resident. To be clear, the Commission is not claiming that

Barry Dunn owed Idaho tax on his one-half share of his Texas or Washington earnings. The

Commission has not assessed *any* tax liability on Barry Dunn's interest in his earnings.

Moreover, income received from an out-of-state source is clearly taxable.

The District Court was correct in its legal conclusions; its determinations in favor of the Commission should be affirmed.

III. Because Linda Dunn has a community property interest in her husband's wages, the District Court correctly determined that such income was taxable.

Linda Dunn was a resident of Idaho for the taxable years. Therefore, all her income—from whatever source derived, and even from a source outside Idaho—is taxable in Idaho. *See* Idaho Code §§ 63-3002 and -3013; *see also Herndon v. West*, 87 Idaho 335, 393 P.2d 35 (1964).

Her husband, Barry Dunn, earned wages in Texas and Washington that are community property. The District Court correctly analyzed Texas and Washington law to determine that Barry Dunn's wages during the relevant years were community income.² As a member of the marital community, Linda Dunn owns a one-half interest in the income earned by her spouse.

A. The wages Barry Dunn earned in Texas and Washington are community property under those states' laws.

By way of reminder, Barry Dunn generally lived and had his place of domicile in those states in which he was working. Specifically, Barry Dunn was domiciled in Washington in 2000-2001, and was domiciled in Texas during 2003-2010. Linda Dunn was domiciled in Idaho for all the taxable years.

We will now analyze the laws of the states where Barry Dunn earned his wages.

Texas:

The wages that Barry Dunn earned in Texas are community property. Appellant's Brief contends that, applying a particular Texas statute, Barry Dunn's wages were the *equivalent* of separate property. This is not accurate, as Texas case law makes it clear that his wages are community property in which his spouse has a one-half interest, as explained below.

In general, "community property under Texas law consists of all property either spouse acquired during the marriage 'other than separate property." *Douglas v. Delp*, 987 S.W.2d 879,

² It is arguable that Idaho community property law (and not Texas or Washington law) should have controlled whether Barry Dunn's income was community property. However, the Commission has not asserted that position in this case. Generally, the Commission takes the position that the laws applicable to marital assets will largely be determined by the spouses' domiciles (*i.e.*, a person's income living in a community property state is community income, and a person's income in a non-community property state is separate income). *See* Idaho State Tax Commission Publication 175 COMMUNITY PROPERTY, https://tax.idaho.gov, Rev. Oct. 15, 2012, at 2-3. This position mirrors the federal taxation scheme. *See* Treas. Reg. § 1.66–1 ("Treatment of community income") (providing that the law of the state where one is domiciled governs whether there is community income or separate income for federal tax purposes).

883 (Tex. 1999) (*citing* Tex. Fam. Code § 3.002); *see also* Texas Constitution, article XVI, sect. 15. In fact, like Idaho, there is a presumption in Texas law that all property held by the spouses is community property. Tex. Fam. Code § 3.003. A spouse who wishes to rebut that presumption in order to show that property is separate property, must do so "by clear and convincing evidence." Tex. Fam. Code § 3.003.

In Texas, the characterization of property as either community property or separate property is determined at the time of its acquisition, or at the "inception of title to the property." *Boyd v. Boyd*, 131 S.W.3d 605, 612 (Tex. App. 2004) (internal citations omitted). "[A]ny spouse's personal income is community property." *McClary v. Thompson*, 65 S.W.3d 829, 834 (Tex. App. 2002) (internal citations omitted); *see also Maben v. Maben*, 574 S.W.2d 229, 232 (Tex. Civ. App. 1978) (personal earnings are community property if earned during marriage).

This brings us to the feature of Texas community property law that Appellant's Brief focuses on: Texas recognizes both sole-management and joint-management of community property. Tex. Fam. Code § 3.102 ("Managing Community Property"). Sole-management community property is sometimes also known as "special community property." *See Valdez* v. *Ramirez*, 574 S.W.2d 748, 750-51 (Tex.1978). (This brief will use the term most commonly used in Texas case law: "sole-management community property.")

What is the nature of sole-management community property? The statute provides that, during marriage, "each spouse has the sole management, control, and disposition of the community property that the spouse would have owned if single, including: . . . personal earnings." Tex. Fam. Code § 3.102. Simply put, sole-management community property is community property that is subject to one spouse's "sole management, control, and disposition."

Valdez, 574 S.W.2d at 750-51; see also Medenco, Inc. v. Myklebust, 615 S.W.2d 187, 189 (Tex. 1981).

Because of this sole-management feature, Appellant's Brief maintains that Barry Dunn had sole-management over his Texas earnings, and that, therefore, this is the *equivalent* of it being separate property. Said in the negative, Appellant's Brief argues that Linda Dunn functionally had no rights to the money that Barry Dunn earned, and therefore, his wages were not actually community property in the normal meaning of the term. Appellant's Brief is unable to identify a single case that supports its theory.³

To the contrary, Texas law is clear that the sole-management community property is not the equivalent of separate property. First, the non-management spouse still retains a community property interest in the sole-management community property. "Each spouse owns an undivided one-half interest in all community assets and funds *regardless of which spouse has management and control.*" *Massey v. Massey*, 807 S.W.2d 391, 401 (Tex. App. 1991) (emphasis added). (Tellingly, in the Appellant's Brief, there is *no mention* of the *Massey* case.) Here, Linda Dunn still owned an undivided one-half interest in all community assets—including the personal earnings of Barry Dunn during the taxable years—regardless of the fact that Barry Dunn may have been given sole management, control or disposition.

Second, this argument is incorrect because, under Texas law, Barry Dunn's wages were never transmuted from community property to separate property. Generally, the character of

³ Appellant's Brief relies on *Douglas v. Delp*, 987 S.W. 2d 879 (Tex. 1999). However, other than the basic statements of community property law (see discussion above), *Douglas* does not further Linda Dunn's particular legal argument. This is because *Douglas* holds merely that where one spouse had filed a bankruptcy, the other spouse lacked standing in state court to recover damages for injury to the community estate, but needed to pursue the matter in bankruptcy court. *Id.*, 987 S.W.2d at 883. ⁴ *See also Carnes v. Meador*, 533 S.W.2d 368, 371 (Tex. Civ. App. 1975) (each spouse owns an undivided one-half interest in all community assets and funds regardless of which spouse has management and control).

earnings as community property attaches when those earnings accrue. *Loaiza* v. *Loaiza*. 130 S.W.3d 894, 909 (Tex. App. 2004) (cited by the District Court, R., p. 117).⁵ Here, the wages of Barry Dunn were community property from the moment he acquired the wages and did not later transmute into separate property.⁶

Thus, the fact that Barry Dunn's personal earnings in Texas can be considered to be sole-management community property with special management privileges, does not change the earnings' characterization as community property in which Linda Dunn has an interest. The District Court correctly determined that, even though sole-management community property does possess some of the characteristics of separate property, "this characterization [as sole-management community property] does not divest the non-earning spouse of her one-half undivided interest in those wages, nor does it transmute those wages from community property to separate property as [Linda Dunn] suggests." R., p. 118.

Finally, Appellant's Brief presents one other argument. This argument relies on Tex.

Fam. Code § 3.202 ("Rules of Marital Property Liability"), which provides that solemanagement community property is not subject to any nontortious liability that the other spouse

-

⁵ Texas law does allow spouses to transmute all or part of their community property into separate property, but this is accomplished via an "exchange" between themselves. Tex. Fam. Code § 4.102. Such property, when exchanged, becomes that spouse's separate property. *Id.* Such an exchange must be accomplished by a writing and signed by the parties. Tex. Fam. Code § 4.104. Here, there is no evidence of a written exchange or transfer of community property. It is stipulated that Barry Dunn derived the Texas income in Texas, while a Texas resident. The record shows that Barry Dunn's earnings in Texas retained their status as community property. His income is community property which was never transmuted into separate property via an exchange.

⁶ Appellant's Brief cites to *Perez v. Perez*, 587 S.W.2d 671 (S.C. Texas 1979). But *Perez* merely analyzed whether a military benefit was community versus separate property. It says nothing about solemanagement community property being considered to be separate property. Nor does it hold that a non-earning spouse has no rights to the other spouse's personal earnings. Reference to *Perez* is not helpful in this case.

incurs during marriage. *Id*.⁷ Appellant's Brief concludes that Barry Dunn's special community property earnings therefore are not subject to liability for the debts incurred by Linda Dunn.⁸

However, Section 3.202, Tex. Fam. Code, does not operate as a bar against Linda Dunn paying tax in Idaho on her one-half share of community income. By its plain language, Section 3.202, Tex. Fam. Code, merely prohibits a creditor from attaching sole-management community property to satisfy the other spouse's debt. As the District Court correctly noted, though, the Commission "is not seeking the wages of Mr. Dunn to satisfy a debt, rather, it is assessing a tax on [Linda Dunn] for her one-half interest to income earned during marriage." R., p. 119.9

In conclusion, the District Court was correct when it perceived the issue before it, whether Linda Dunn "had a vested interest in the community property of the marriage." R., p. 119. It correctly noted that under Texas law, Linda Dunn did have a one-half undivided interest in the Texas earnings of Barry Dunn. R., p. 119. Because Linda Dunn's domicile at the time she received an interest in Barry Dunn's wages was Idaho, "as an Idaho resident, [her] one-half interest in [his] income is subject to the tax laws of the State of Idaho." R., p. 120.

⁷ Section 3.202, Tex. Fam. Code, provides: "Unless both spouses are personally liable as provided by this subchapter, the community property subject to a spouse's sole management, control, and disposition is not subject to: . . . any nontortious liabilities that the other spouse incurs during marriage." *Id.*⁸ The Appellant's Brief cites several other cases in support of its position, including *Beal Bank v. Gilbert*, 417 S.W. 3d 704 (Tex. App. 2013), *Montemayor v. Ortiz*, 208 S.W. 3d 627 (Tex. App. 2006), and *In re Hall*, 559 B.R. 463, 466 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. 2016). These cases do not apply here because they are factually distinguishable in that the Commission is not seeking payment from Barry Dunn's separate income or his sole-management community property.

⁹ The Appellant's Brief objects to the District Court having analyzed the Texas case of *Kimsey v. Kimsey*, 965 S.W.2d 690 (Tex. App. 1998), because the case deals with federal tax liability, and not state tax liability. But the District Court recognized this factual difference and weighed the import of the case accordingly. The rationale of *Kimsey* is applicable to the facts in this case. Moreover, even though a federal tax was at issue, that distinction does not matter. The point of citing to *Kimsey* is to show that under Texas law "if a spouse can be responsible for the entire tax liability of the marriage, they are responsible for the liability of both spouses even if the liable party is the non-earning spouse." R., p. 119. Accordingly, the District Court correctly concluded that "a non-earning spouse may have tax liability even where the income would be considered special community property." R., p. 119.

Washington:

Under Washington law, Barry Dunn's wages earned and acquired there are community property. Linda Dunn had a vested interest in the community property wages earned by her spouse. The District Court correctly analyzed how the wages earned in Washington for the taxable years are community income, and how Linda Dunn's community interest in those wages are taxable in Idaho. *See* Memo Dec., R., pp. 120-21. No party has appealed this determination.

B. Under Idaho law, Linda Dunn must report the income she received from her one-half interest in her husband's wages, even if those wages were earned out-of-state.

In doing an analysis of other states' laws, the question to be answered only pertains to the characterization of the income earned in those states as community or separate property. What is *not* in question is Idaho's own ability to impose tax on its own residents' income. This is an important distinction because the Appellant's Brief conflates the two concepts.¹⁰

Under Idaho law, an individual's residency affects ones income tax liability. *See* Idaho Code §§ 63-3002 and -3013. That's because a person's residency determines what income the State of Idaho can tax. In Idaho, it is the intent of the legislature to impose a tax on Idaho residents' income "wherever derived." Idaho Code § 63-3002; *see also* Idaho Code §§ 63-3011B, -3011C; I.R.C. §§ 61, 63. Thus, as an Idaho resident, Linda Dunn is taxed on all of the income she received during the taxable years while living in Idaho.

Moreover, a resident's income is taxed *regardless of where it is actually earned*. This Court has explained that there is no constitutional prohibition against a state's exercise of power

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